RECEIVED

MAY 07 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000292

Meenaxi, Inc., d/b/a Corner Mart Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

S. Jahue Moore
John C. Bradley, Jr.
MOORE TAYLOR LAW FIRM, PA
1700 Sunset Boulevard
West Columbia, SC 29169
803-796-9160
803-791-8410 (Fax)
john@mttlaw.com
Attorneys for Appellant
Meenaxi, Inc., d/b/a Corner Mart

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DETERMINING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE RESPONDENT BROUGHT AND PURSUED THIS ACTION AGAINST THE CORRECT PARTIES?

- II. WERE THE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS OF MALKESH PATEL VIOLATED BY RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO BRING AND PURSUE THIS CASE AGAINST THE PROPER PARTIES?

- III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE ERR SUSPENDING APPELLANT'S OFF PREMISES BEER AND WINE PERMIT PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA CODE SECTION 61-4-580(5)?

- IV. WERE THE TRIAL COURTS FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW BASED UPON ERRONEOUSLY ADMITTED TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE?

- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION AND COMMIT ERRORS OF LAW IN DETERMINING THAT REVOCATION OF THE APPELLANT'S OFF PREMISES BEER AND WINE PERMIT WAS THE APPROPRIATE PENALTY IN THIS CASE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order of the Administrative Law Court revoking Appellant Meenaxi, Inc., d/b/a Corner Mart's ("Meenaxi's") off premises beer and wine permit pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(5)¹. (Order of the Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden dated January 8, 2015; R. ____). Respondent South Carolina Department of Revenue ("Department of Revenue") commenced this action by issuing its citation on or about February 26, 2013, citing Appellant for violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(5) (2009) by knowingly permitting an act on its premises that constitutes a crime. (Petitioner's Exhibit 1; South Carolina State Law Enforcement Division Report of Investigation dated February 26, 2013; R. ____). The Respondent Department of Revenue subsequently served its Administrative Determination on Appellant on or about May 8, 2013. (Administrative Determination dated May 8, 2013; R. ____). Appellant Meenaxi timely filed a Request for Contested Case FORM on the grounds that the machines were not illegal, the Appellant had no reason to believe they were illegal, and/or the penalty imposed was unreasonably harsh. (Request for a Contested Hearing FORM dated May 21, 2013; R. ____). The matter was then assigned to the Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden for hearing. (Notice of Assignment dated May 23, 2013; R. ____).

This matter was set for a merits hearing on December 4, 2014. (Transcript of Hearing dated December 4, 2014; R. ____). At the close of the Department's case, the Appellant's counsel moved to dismiss. (Transcript of Record, p. 88; R. ____). Judge Durden denied this Motion (Transcript of Record p. 97, l. 23 - p. 98, l. 9; p. 99, l. 24 - p.

¹ One of the issues on appeal concerns the improper identification of the parties to this action. For purposes of this appeal, the undersigned will refer to "Appellant" as Meenaxi, Inc. d/b/a Corner Mart, through no corporate entity exists by that name.

100, l. 5; p. 104, l. 25 - p. 105, l. 5; R. ____). On January 8, 2015, Judge Durden issued her order finding and ruling as a matter of law that Appellant violated S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(5) and revoked Appellant's off premises beer and wine permit. (Order of Judge Durden dated January 8, 2015; R. ____). Appellant timely moved for reconsideration and for a stay. (Motion for Reconsideration and/or Motion for Relief from Judgment or Order and for Stay dated January 15, 2015; R. ____). Appellant subsequently moved for supersedeas. (Notice of Motion and Motion for Supersedeas dated February 8, 2015; R. ____). These motions were denied by Judge Durden without oral argument. (Order of Judge Durden dated January 26, 2015) (Order Denying Respondent's Motion for Supersedeas dated February 10, 2015; R. ____). Appellant timely filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal with the Court on February 17, 2015. (Notice of Intent to Appeal dated February 17, 2015; R. ____).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The off premises beer and wine permit at issue in this case is/was held by Meenaxi, Inc., and Malkesh Patel. (Transcript of Record, p. 107, ll. 6-8; Petitioner's Exhibit 8; R. ____). At no time has Malkesh Patel ever been made a party to this action. (Transcript of Record, p. 107, ll. 9-11; R. ____). Meenaxi, Inc. was not made a party to this action. Instead, the action was brought against an entity called Meenaxi, Inc., d/b/a The Corner Mart. There is no legal entity called Meenaxi, Inc., d/b/a The Corner Mart. (Transcript of Record, p. 27, l. 17 - p. 28, l. 1; R. ____). There was no evidence presented at trial that any such entity exists.

The Corner Mart is a small convenience store located in Anderson, South Carolina. (Transcript of Record, p. 107, ll. 12-22; R. ____). It sells snacks, drinks, and

gasoline. (Transcript of Record p. 107, ll. 12-22; R. ____). It has two employees. (Transcript of Record, p. 107, ll. 22-24; R. ____). The ability to sell beer and wine is crucial to its viability and profitability as a business. The ability to sell beer and wine pursuant to their off premises beer and wine permit is the difference between the store being profitable and unprofitable. If the business lost its license permanently, it would become unprofitable and would go out of business. (Transcript of Record, p. 107, l. 25 - p. 108, l. 8; R. ____).

Mr. Malkesh Patel testified on several occasions during the hearing that he always tried to operate the business legally and would not have done anything to violate the law with respect to the operation of the store. (Transcript of Record, p. 107, ll. 3-5; p. 108, ll. 9-11; R. ____). The machines at issue in this appeal were not owned by Mr. Patel. Instead, they were owned by a third party, Encore Entertainment ("Encore") and placed in the Corner Mart Store. Encore is not a party to this action or this appeal. At the time of the SLED visit (discussed below), the machines had only been on premises for 3 to 6 months. (Transcript of Record, p. 108, ll. 6-7, 12-17; R. ____).

Mr. Patel testified that at the time Encore placed them in his store he did not know how they operated. Mr. Patel testified that he had never operated or played either of these machines. (Transcript of Record, p. 108, ll. 12-22; R. ____). He maintained them pursuant to the instructions found on them. (Transcript of Record, p. 108, ll. 23-25; p. 109, ll. 2-5; R. ____). Mr. Patel testified on several occasions under oath before Judge Durden that he believed these machines were legal when they were placed in his store. (Transcript of Record, p.109, ll. 8-18; R. ____). He testified he was informed by the owner of the machines that they were legal. He was provided with a copy of a "court

case” from Greenville County stating that they were legal. (Transcript of Record, p. 109, ll. 19-22; R. ____). He testified that based on the information provided by the owner (including the court order) he concluded that the machines were legal. (Transcript of Record, p. 109, ll. 12-25; R. ____). Mr. Patel testified that he relied upon the information provided to him by the owner and the Court Order (a copy of which was actually in the machine) when he allowed the machines to be placed in his store. (Transcript of Record, p. 111, l. 16 - p. 112, l. 5; p. 9, l. 7; R. ____). The machines were licensed by the Respondent South Carolina Department of Revenue and had a South Carolina Department of Revenue sticker attached to them. (Transcript of Record, p. 115, ll. 15-25; R. ____). Mr. Patel testified that he would not have allowed them into his store had he known that they were illegal. (Transcript of Record, p. 110, ll. 10-16; R. ____).

Mr. Patel testified that sometime after the machines were placed he learned that law enforcement was taking the position that the machines were, in fact, illegal. Although he still believed them to be legal, he unplugged the machines after learning of this position. (Transcript of Record, p.110, ll. 17-25; R. ____). He did not allow anyone to play them and called the owner to come pick them up. (Transcript of Record, p. 111, ll. 1-11; R. ____). They were still in this condition when SLED Agent Thomas Bielawski visited the premises on February 26, 2013. (Transcript of Record, p. 114, l. 25 – p. 115, l. 12; R. ____).

Agent Bielawski testified that he entered the Corner Mart premises on February 26, 2013. (Transcript of Record, p. 12, ll. 21-25; Petitioners Exhibit 1; R. ____). There was one clerk in the store at the time, a lady named Ursula Dean. (Transcript of Record, p. 33, l. 19 – p. 34, l. 10; Petitioner’s Exhibit 1; R. ____). Ms. Dean was not called as a

witness at the hearing before Judge Durden. Agent Bielawski did not make any effort to determine who Ms. Dean worked for or was employed by.² (Transcript of Record, p. 33, ll. 11-25; p. 62, l. 24 – p. 63, l. 5; Petitioner’s Exhibit 1; R. ____). When he arrived, the two machines at issue in this appeal were turned off and unplugged. This is consistent with Mr. Patel’s testimony. (Transcript of Record, p. 35, ll. 14-21; R. ____). Information promoting the promotion and rules of play were displayed both on the machine and adjacent to them. (Transcript of Record, p. 85, ll. 3-10; R. ____). These clearly stated that no purchase, payment or entry fee was required to play them.

After entering the premises, Agent Bielawski plugged the machines into a wall socket, turned them on and opened them. (Transcript of Record, p. 46, l. 22 – p. 47, l. 2; R. ____). He did not attempt to play them or to operate them. (Transcript of Record, p. 54, l. 24 – p. 55, l. 3; R. ____). He made no effort to determine whether or not money was necessary to play these machines. (Transcript of Record, p. 56, l. 23 – p. 58, l. 9; p. 85, ll. 7-21; p. 86, ll. 14-18; R. ____). He did not put any money into the machines. He did not find any money inside of the machines. He photographed them. Agent Bielawski spoke with Mr. Patel via telephone. He then wrote up a citation and gave it to Ms. Dean. The violation report was directed at the license holders, Malkesh Patel and Meenaxi, Inc. (Transcript of Record, p. 45, l. 14 – p. 47, l. 23; Petitioner's Exhibit 1; R. ____).

The machines were removed from the premises and taken to the Anderson County Sheriff’s Department. (Transcript of Record, p. 47, l. 22 – p. 49, l. 2; R. ____). They were reviewed by the Magistrate in the presence of Agent Bielawski. (Transcript of Record, p.

² Although Respondent’s counsel reported to the court that Ms. Dean was an employee at Meenaxi, Inc., there is nothing in the record to support this assertion. (Transcript of Record, p. 26, l. 14 – p. 27, l.2; R. ____).

48, ll. 2-7; R. ____). They were determined to be illegal by Order of the Anderson County Magistrate who issued an order of destruction. (Transcript of Record, p. 48, ll. 5-12; Petitioner's Exhibits 3 and 4; R. ____). The two machines were destroyed prior to the hearing before Judge Durden. (Transcript of Record, p. 53, ll. 12-22; R. ____). Neither Appellant nor Meenaxi, Inc., were parties to the Magistrate's Court action when the Magistrate determined them to be illegal. (Petitioner's Exhibits 3 and 4; R. ____).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A reviewing court may reverse or modify the decision of the Administrative Law Court (ALC) judge if the finding, conclusion or decision reached by the ALC is arbitrary or capricious or characterized by an abuse of discretion or is a clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion; violates constitutional or statutory provisions; or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record or is affected by an error of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B); *Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 380 S.C. 600, 670 S.E.2d 674 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS THIS MATTER ON THE GROUNDS THAT RESPONDENT'S FAILED TO PURSUE THIS ACTION AGAINST THE CORRECT PARTIES

At the close of the evidence presented by Respondent, Appellant moved to dismiss this action on the grounds that it was not brought against the holder of the off premises beer and wine permit at issue in this case and further was brought against a corporate entity that does not exist. (Transcript of Record, p. 100; R. ____). The Trial Court denied this motion. (Transcript of Record, p. 104, ll. 10-16; R. ____).

The only evidence introduced at the hearing was that the license in question or at issue in this case was in the name of Malkesh Patel and Meenaxi, Inc. (Petitioner's Exhibit 8; R. ____). Neither Malkesh Patel nor Meenaxi, Inc., were parties to the Magistrate's Court order regarding the legality of the machines. Malkesh Patel was never made a party to this action. While Meenaxi, Inc., was named, it was named as a d/b/a. No evidence was presented at trial that any such corporate entity exists. The only evidence that such an entity exists was the testimony of Agent Bielawski who based this on his "general" experience and not the facts of this case. (Transcript of Record, P. 64; R. ____). At no time did the Respondent ever attempt to amend its action to add Mr. Patel as a party or to add Meenaxi, Inc., as a party to this case.

The Respondent failed to bring this action against the correct parties. The actual license holders were never named as parties to this action. No attempt was made to amend the pleadings to correct them. Further, even if Meenaxi, Inc., was properly named, Malkesh Patel was not. The Trial Court attempted to excuse this error, and the resulting due process violation, by finding that Mr. Patel had the right to intervene in this action but chose not to do so. (Order of Judge Durden, January 8, 2015) (Transcript of Record, p. 102, l. 13 – p. 105, l. 20; R. ____). This reasoning is not applicable to the case before the Court. The Respondent carries the burden of proof. It is the Respondent's obligation to determine the correct parties to this action (the holder's of the license) and to bring an action against them. The Respondent failed to do so in this case. The Trial Court erred in failing to grant the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss.

The Trial Court erred by finding and ruling that Mr. Patel's due process rights were not violated by the Department's failure to add him as a party of this action. (Order

of Judge Durden, dated January 8, 2015; R. ____). The court erroneously concluded that, “because Patel had the opportunity to meaningfully participate in this case, but declined to do so, the Petitioner (Respondent) did not violate his due process rights.” (Order of Judge Durden; R. ____). This finding is clearly erroneous.

First, as set forth above, requiring Mr. Patel to intervene here constitutes an improper shifting of the burden of proof. Respondent carried the burden of proof. It was Respondent’s responsibility, not Appellant’s, to pursue this case against the proper parties.

Further, the requirements of due process include an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way. S.C. Const. Art. I, Section 22; *Stono River Environmental Protection Ass’n v. S.C. Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 305 S.C. 90, 406 S.E.2d 340 (1991). Even if Mr. Patel had intervened, the machines at issue had been destroyed. There was no chance to inspect them, which was crucial to this case as neither Agent Bielawski nor the Magistrate ever turned them on and operated or played them. Mr. Patel was clearly prejudiced by the Department’s failure to name him as a party. *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. South Carolina Public Service Commission*, 282 S.C. 430, 319 S.E.2d 695 (1984). The Trial Court’s order to the contrary is clearly erroneous and should be reversed by the court.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING AND CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE APPELLANT KNOWINGLY PERMITTED AN ACT ON ITS PREMISES THAT CONSTITUTES A CRIME

As set forth above, “the court of appeals may reverse or modify the decision if the appellant’s substantive rights have been prejudiced because the decision is clearly

erroneous in light of the reliable and substantial evidence on the whole record, arbitrary or otherwise characterized by an abuse of discretion, or affected by other error of law.” *SGM-Moonglo, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 378 S.C. 293, 295, 662 S.E.2d 487, 488 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008); *South Carolina Department of Revenue, et. al. v. Sandalwood Social Club*, 399 S.C. 267, 731 S.E.2d 330 (Ct. App. 2012). “Substantial evidence is evidence that, when viewing the record as a whole would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion the ALC arrived at in justifying its decision.” *South Carolina Coastal Conservation League v. S. C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 380 S.C. 349, 362, 669 S.E.2d 899, 905 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008) (internal citations omitted). The Trial Judge abused her discretion by ignoring the evidence presented before her. Judge Durden’s finding that Appellant violated S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(5) was clearly erroneous and was not supported by the evidence.

A. Judge Durden's Order Not Supported by Evidence Presented at Hearing

The Respondent failed to meet its burden of establishing that Appellant violated S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(5) by knowingly allowing a criminal act to occur on its premises. The Trial Court erred in failing to grant the Appellant’s Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that Respondent failed to meet its burden of proving that the machines in question were, in fact, illegal. (Transcript of Record, pp. 88-92; R. ____). The Trial Court's Final Order to the contrary and her Order denying Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration are clearly erroneous, based on inadmissible and improper evidence and should be reversed by this Court. (Order of Judge Durden dated January 8, 2015; Order of Judge Durden dated January 26, 2015; R. ____).

1. Respondent Failed to Meet Their Burden to Establish that the Machines Were Illegal

The Respondent failed to meet its burden of proof to establish that the machines at issue in this case were illegal. First, the machines whose legality was at issue in this case were not available at the hearing before Judge Durden. Subsequent to their removal from Corner Mart, the machines at issue were taken to the Anderson County Sheriff's Department Armory. (Transcript of Record, p. 47, l. 22 – p. 48, l. 1; p. 53, ll. 12-25; R. ____). The machines were ultimately destroyed pursuant to an Order of Destruction prior to the merits hearing in this case. (Transcript of Record, p. 48, ll. 5-23; Petitioner's Exhibits 3 and 4; R. ____). They were intentionally destroyed by the State of South Carolina when it was obvious that the legality or illegality of the machines would be an issue in subsequent litigation. As a result of this destruction, they were not available for inspection or testing at the hearing in front of Judge Durden. The best evidence of the machines, what they are, and how they are operated, are the machines themselves. This is especially true when the only witness called by the Respondent did not actually attempt to operate the machines and had no idea how they operated. This is tantamount to a spoliation of evidence by the Respondent and is a clear denial of the Appellant's due process rights.

In order for destruction of evidence to constitute denial of due process, a party must establish (1) that the State destroyed the evidence in bad faith, or (2) that the evidence possessed an exculpatory value apparent before the evidence was destroyed and that the Defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means. See, *State v. Breeze*, 379 SC 538, 665 S.E.2d 247 (S.C. App. 2008).

In the case before the court, the sole issue for determination is the legality or illegality of the two machines which were taken from the Corner Mart. At the time the machines were removed from the Corner Mart, a citation had already been instituted by the Department. Proceedings had already been commenced against the off premises beer and wine permit held by Meenaxi, Inc., and Malkesh Patel. Since neither Agent Bielawski nor the Magistrate actually played the machines, the only available evidence as to their legality or illegality was going to be the machines themselves. Respondent's ability to properly defend itself turned solely on their ability to inspect these machines or to have them inspected by a potential expert witness.

Yet, in light of their importance to the case, the State of South Carolina and SLED destroyed them. Clearly, this evidence was material to this case. Respondent's ability to examine this evidence was obviously crucial to its ability to defend its license. The State's intentional destruction of this evidence deprived Respondent of its ability to adequately defend itself. The State's destruction of evidence clearly constitutes a violation of the Respondent's due process rights. See *State v. Jackson*, 302 S.C. 313, 396 S.E.2d 101 (1990).

The Trial Court excused the destruction of this vital evidence by citing the fact that the Appellant made no effort or filed no motion to preserve them. (Order of Judge Durden dated January 8, 2015; Transcript of Record, p. 93, l. 23 – p. 94, l. 5; R. ____). This logic is not controlling. The Respondent, not the Appellant carries the burden of proof in this action. The burden of proving its case, and having the evidence to present before the Trial Court to prove its case, is on the Respondent and not the Appellant. The State of South Carolina and SLED, working in conjunction with the Respondent, had the

evidence and allowed it to be destroyed. The Appellant had no responsibility to preserve this evidence. The Trial Court's Order to the contrary constitutes an impermissible shifting of the burden of proof in this case.

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