THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court Of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

SEP 14 2015

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

SC Court of Appeals

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 12-ALJ-17-0405-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2015-000292

---

South Carolina Department of Revenue,.....Respondent,

v.

Meenaxi, Inc., d/b/a Corner Mart,.....Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Lauren Acquaviva (Bar No. 100528)  
Counsel for Litigation  
Sean G. Ryan (Bar No. 76585)  
Managing Counsel for Litigation  
Milton G. Kimpson (Bar No. 7917)  
General Counsel for Litigation  
P.O. Box 12265  
Columbia, SC 29211-9979  
Attorneys for Respondent

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

Even if the search of the machines was not lawful, the ALC’s finding that the search was lawful is harmless error. Since the machines are contraband *per se*, the agent could have seized the machines without examining them. As discussed under Issue II, section A above, the only evidence the Department needed to establish the machines were illegal was the Magistrate Court’s orders. Those orders would have been issued regardless of whether the agent examined the machines, because the Magistrate viewed the machines himself and determined that they were illegal. (R. p. 66, line 22 – p. 67, line 7, pp. 159 – 162; Hr’g Tr. 47:22 – 48:7; Dept’s Exhibit 3; Dept’s Exhibit 4.) Thus, because the search did not provide any information that the Department needed to prove its case or information that the Department did not also obtain from another source, the ALC’s finding that the search was lawful is harmless.

**IV. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE STATE LAW ENFORCEMENT DIVISION REPORT, THE MAGISTRATE COURT'S ORDERS, AND THE STATE LAW ENFORCEMENT DIVISION AGENT'S TESTIMONY INTO EVIDENCE.**

This Court may not reverse the ALC's evidentiary rulings unless the rulings are based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. Rice, 375 S.C. at 314, 652 S.E.2d at 415. During the hearing in this matter, the ALC admitted the following into evidence: (1) the SLED Report, which included statements made by Ms. Dean to Agent Bielawski; (2) the Magistrate Court's orders, and (3) Agent Bielawski's testimony regarding the Appellant's permit, the statements made by Ms. Dean, and his experience with gambling machines. The Appellant argues that the aforementioned evidence should not have been admitted. However, as will be discussed in greater detail below, the ALC's decision to admit the evidence was not based on an error of law. Furthermore, the ALC's decision to admit the evidence was supported by other evidence. Thus, the ALC properly admitted the SLED Report, the Magistrate Court's orders, and Agent Bielawski's testimony into evidence.

**A. The Administrative Law Court Properly Admitted The State Law Enforcement Division Report Into Evidence.**

The ALC determined that the SLED Report (Dept's Exhibit 1) was admissible as a business record under Rule 803(6), SCRE. (R. p. 5; Order 5.) Additionally, the ALC determined that the statements made by Ms. Dean within the SLED Report were admissible as statements by a party opponent. (R. p. 5; Order 5.) Appellant appears to argue that the SLED Report should have been excluded from evidence in its entirety

because it contained hearsay within hearsay.<sup>5</sup> Initial Brief of Appellant 18. However, this is simply not true. Pursuant to Rule 805, SCRE, “hearsay included within hearsay is not excluded under the hearsay rule if each part of the combined statements conforms with an exception to the hearsay rule provided in these rules.” Thus, each layer of hearsay must be examined to determine whether an exception exists and whether each layer is admissible.

The first layer of hearsay at issue in this case is the document itself – the SLED Report. The ALC determined that the SLED Report was admissible under Rule 803(6), SCRE. (R. p. 44, lines 15 – 20, p. 5; Hr’g Tr. 25:15 – 20; Order 5.) In order for a document to meet the exception set forth in Rule 803(6), SCRE, the following four elements must be established: (1) the record must be made and kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity; (2) it must be the regular practice of that business activity to make the record; (3) the record must be made at or near the time of the event that it records; and (4) the record must be made by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge acting in the regular course of business. The SLED Report is an investigative report. (R. p. 32, lines 16 – 19; Hr’g Tr. 13:16 – 19.) SLED regularly creates and keeps such investigative reports during the normal course of its business, and it is the regular practice of that business activity to make the record. (R. p. 32, lines 3 – 13; Hr’g Tr. 13:3 – 13.) In this case, Agent Bielawski created the SLED Report the same

---

<sup>5</sup>The Appellant also argues the SLED Report should not have been admitted because “the report was generated pursuant to an unlawful search . . . .” Initial Brief of Appellant 17. However, as explained under Issue III above, the search was not unlawful. Thus, this argument has no merit. However, even if the search was unlawful, that would not cause the entire report to be inadmissible; only the parts of the document related to the unlawful search would be inadmissible.

day he conducted the investigation using information he gathered during the investigation of the Appellant's business. (R. p. 32, lines 3 – 25, pp. 156 – 157; Hr'g Tr. 13:3 – 25; Dept's Exhibit 1.) Thus, the SLED Report is a record of regularly conducted activity, and the ALC properly found that it was admissible as an exception to hearsay under Rule 803(6), SCRE.

The next layer of hearsay involves some of the statements contained within the document. Many of the statements contained in the SLED Report are simply a recitation of Agent Bielawski's observations, such as the statement that he "noticed two video poker machines located in the front of the business by the main window . . . ." (R. pp. 156 – 157; Dept's Exhibit 1.) This statement and other similar statements are not at issue as they are not hearsay statements. Furthermore, any statements purporting to give a legal opinion are not at issue. The Appellant argues that the ALC improperly admitted the legal opinions of Agent Bielawski. Initial Brief of Appellant 18 – 19. However, Judge Durden clearly stated that she would disregard any statement in the document that constituted a legal conclusion. (R. p. 45, lines 3 – 12; Hr'g Tr. 26:3 – 12.) Therefore, the only statements within the SLED Report that are properly before this Court are the statements made by Ms. Dean.

In the SLED Report, Agent Bielawski recounts a conversation with Ms. Dean, wherein Ms. Dean informed Agent Bielawski "that the owner of the business had been aware that SLED and ACSO were in the area. She said that the owner, Mr. Malakesh [sic] Patel, emptied the money from the machines, turned off the power switches, and unplugged them from the wall before [SLED's] arrival today." The Appellant argues that these statements constitute hearsay and, therefore, are inadmissible. Initial Brief of

Appellant 17- 18. However, pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2)(D), SCRE, these statements are not hearsay.

Rule 801(d)(2)(D), SCRE provides that a statement is not hearsay if the statement is offered against a party and is “a statement by the party’s agent or servant concerning a matter within the scope of the agency or employment, made during the existence of the relationship.” Thus, for Ms. Dean’s statements to not be considered hearsay, (1) Ms. Dean must be an agent or servant of the Appellant, (2) her statements must have concerned a matter within the scope of her employment, and (3) her statements must have been made while she was still employed by the Appellant. All three of these requirements are clearly met. Agent Bielawski testified that Ms. Dean was standing behind the counter when he entered the licensed premises, and she acted in the role of a store clerk similar to store clerks in other stores the agent had been in. (R. p. 52, line 19 – p. 53, line 2; Hr’g Tr. 33:19 – 34:2.) Additionally, after Agent Bielawski issued the Violation Report (Dept’s Exhibit 2), which Ms. Dean signed on behalf of the Appellant, Ms. Dean gave Agent Bielawski the keys to the machines so he could open them. (R. p. 65, lines 15 – 17, p. 66, lines 4 – 6; Hr’g Tr. 46:15 – 17, 47:4 – 6.) Ms. Dean then called her boss, Malkesh Patel, and handed the agent the phone. (R. p. 66, lines 6 – 12, p. 82, lines 1 – 9; Hr’g Tr. 47:6 – 12, 63:1 – 9.) Based on these facts, one can reasonably infer that Ms. Dean was an employee of the Appellant at the time she spoke with Agent Bielawski. Moreover, no facts exist in the record that would suggest Ms. Dean was not employed by the Appellant. (R. pp. 20 – 155; Hr’g Tr.) Thus, the first and third requirements of Rule 801(d)(2)(D), SCRE are satisfied.

The second requirement is also satisfied, as Ms. Dean's statements regarding the machines were within the scope of her employment. In Allotta v. National R.R. Passenger Corporation, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit elaborated on the phrase "concerning a matter within the scope." 315 F.3d 756, 761 – 762 (7th Cir. 2003). The Court said that "admissions can be made 'concerning [any] matter within the scope of the . . . employment.'" 315 F.3d at 762. The Court further elaborated by stating that "[t]he only requirement is that the subject matter of the admission match the subject matter of the employee's job description. . . . To qualify as an admission, an employee need only be performing the duties of his employment when he comes in contact with the particular facts at issue." Id. Here, Ms. Dean had keys to the machines. (R. p. 66, lines 4 – 6; Hr'g Tr. 47:4 – 6.) Therefore, working with the machines was clearly part of her job duties. Furthermore, she witnessed Mr. Patel take the money out of the machines, turn them off, and unplug them while working in the store. (R. p. 57, line 4 – p. 58, line 12; Hr'g Tr. 38:4 – 39:12.) She also heard Mr. Patel explain why he took those actions while working in the store. (R. p. 57, line 4 – p. 58, line 12; Hr'g Tr. 38:4 – 39:12.) Thus, Ms. Dean's job responsibilities include working with the machines, and she came in contact with the facts at issue while performing the duties of her employment. Therefore, Ms. Dean's statements regarding the machines were within the scope of her employment, satisfying the second and final requirement. Because all three requirements were satisfied, the ALC properly determined that Ms. Dean's statements were not hearsay.

**B. The Administrative Law Court Properly Admitted The Magistrate Court's Orders Into Evidence.**

Pursuant to § 12-21-2712, it is the Magistrate Court that determines the legality of machines seized by any law enforcement officer. See Mims, 366 S.C. 141, 621 S.E.2d

344; Allendale, 361 S.C. 581, 606 S.E.2d 471. Furthermore, as explained under Issue II, section A above, a determination by a court with jurisdiction of the status of a *res* binds all parties, including third-parties. See Ex parte Kenmore Shoe Co., 50 S.C. 140, 27 S.E. at 684. In this case, the Magistrate Court determined the status of the machines, specifically that they were illegal. Accordingly, that determination of the machines' illegality serves as conclusive evidence against all the world, including the Appellant. Thus, the Magistrate's Orders are controlling and dispositive in the case at bar for the purpose of determining whether the machines were illegal.

The Appellant, however, argues that the ALC erred in admitting the Magistrate Court's orders because "neither decision was made by a court of record [and, thus,] they have no binding effect on the matters before the court." Initial Brief of Appellant 19. The Appellant goes on to say that because the Appellant was not a party to the proceedings before the Magistrate, the orders cannot be used against it. Initial Brief of Appellant 19. Not only does the Appellant fail to cite any authority to support its position, its argument is contrary to the laws in this State. As discussed above, the Legislature charged the Magistrate Court with the authority to determine the legality of machines like the ones at issue here, and judgments *in rem*, like the Magistrate's orders here, are binding against third parties. Thus, the ALC properly admitted the Magistrate Court's orders into evidence.

C. **The Administrative Law Court Properly Allowed Agent Bielawski To Testify Regarding The Appellant's Permit, The Statements Made By Ms. Dean, And The Agent's Experience With Gambling Machines.**

First, the Appellant argues that Agent Bielawski's testimony regarding the "business arrangement between the parties to this matter and the individuals/entities

identified on the off premises beer and wine permit . . .” constituted speculation. Initial Brief of Appellant 20. However, Agent Bielawski did not speculate about the business arrangement. All he did was explain the contents of the Appellant’s permit to the ALC, which clearly shows that Meenaxi, Inc. was the permit holder and Corner Mart was the name of the store located at 1010 E. Shockley Ferry Road, Anderson, South Carolina. (R. p. 48, line 21 – p. 51, line 14, p. 83, lines 18 – 24, p. 166; Hr’g Tr. 29:21 – 32:14, 64:18 – 24; Dept’s Exhibit 8.) Thus, his testimony regarding the permit and the business arrangement was not speculative.

Additionally, the Appellant appears to argue that the aforementioned testimony constituted an improper opinion. Initial Brief of Appellant 20. Pursuant to Rule 701, SCRE, a witness who is not testifying as an expert may give testimony in the form of an opinion or inferences as long as those opinions or inferences “(a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experiences or training.” In this instance, Agent Bielawski’s testimony regarding the Appellant’s permit was rationally based on his perception. As previously explained, Agent Bielawski merely explained the contents of the permit. Additionally, the agent’s explanation of the permit helped the ALC understand the identity of the actual permit holder. Finally, any reasonable person could conclude from looking at the permit that Meenaxi, Inc. was the permit holder and Corner Mart was the name of the store. (R. p. 166; Dept’s Exhibit 8.) Thus, the agent’s testimony did not require any special knowledge. Therefore, while the majority of the agent’s testimony regarding the permit was factual, any opinion testimony he gave was permitted under Rule 701, SCRE. To

that extent, the ALC properly allowed Agent Bielawski to testify about the permit and the permit holder.

Next, the Appellant argues that the ALC erred in allowing Agent Bielawski to testify about what Ms. Dean told him because her statements constituted inadmissible hearsay. Initial Brief of Appellant 20. As explained under Issue IV section A above, Ms. Dean's statements were not hearsay, and thus the ALC properly allowed Agent Bielawski to testify about Ms. Dean's statements.

Finally, the Appellant asserts that the ALC erred in allowing Agent Bielawski to testify "as to matters arising out of 'his experience' as a law enforcement officer and which did not touch upon the machines at issue in this case of the facts at issue in this case." Initial Brief of Appellant 20. However, Agent Bielawski testified about the discarded receipts/coupons in the Appellant's store and the games on the machines that were in the Appellant's store. (R. p. 58, line 14 – p. 64, line 13; Hr'g Tr. 39:14 – 45:13.) Those are mere facts regarding the machines at issue in this case and have nothing to do with the agent's experience. Furthermore, Agent Bielawski's explanation as to why the receipts/coupons were discarded is admissible as a lay opinion under Rule 701, SCRE. His explanation was based on his rational perception, it helped the ALC understand the real purpose of the machines at issue, and it did not require any special knowledge. Any reasonable person could infer that if people discarded the receipts/coupons, the receipts/coupons were not being used for their intended purpose and presumably had no value to the people using the machines. Thus, the ALC properly allowed Agent Bielawski to testify about the receipts/coupons and the games on the machines, as they were either mere facts or his lay opinion.

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